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LICENSEE OR CERTIFICATE HOLDER: 

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license or certificate as they relate to safety and safeguards 
and to compliance with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license or 
certificate.  The inspection consisted of selective examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and 
observations by the inspector.  The inspection findings are as follows: 

 1.  Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified. 

 2.  Previous violation(s) closed. 

 3.  Reported events reviewed 

 

4.  The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being 
cited because they were self-identified, non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the 
remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, to exercise discretion, were satisfied. 
Non-Cited Violation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s) and Corrective Action(s): 

 

5.  During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of 
NRC requirements and are being cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to 
posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11. 

 

 

LICENSEE OR CERTIFICATE HOLDER STATEMENT OF CORRECTIVE ACTIONS FOR ITEM 5, ABOVE 
 

 I hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the inspector will be taken to correct the violation(s) identified.  This 
statement of corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective 
steps which will be taken, date when full compliance will be achieved).  I understand that no further written response to the NRC will be 
required, unless specifically requested. 

Title Printed Name Signature Date

LICENSEE/CERTIFICATE 
HOLDER REPRESENTATIVE 

   

NRC INSPECTOR Michael O. Miller /RA/ J. Pelchat for 2/11/10 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 

This report covers a three-month period of inspection by resident inspectors and announced inspections by 
regional inspectors and resident inspectors.  Inspectors performed a selective examination which was 
accomplished by direct observation of safety significant activities and equipment, tours of the facility, interviews 
and discussions with certificate personnel, independent verification of safety system status and limiting 
conditions for operation, corrective actions, and a review of facility records.  The NRC's program for overseeing 
the safe operation of uranium enrichment facilities is described in Manual Chapter 2600, “Fuel Cycle Facility 
Operational Safety and Safeguards Inspection Program,” dated March 21, 2008. 
 
Inspectors identified no violations of NRC requirements during this inspection period. 
 

 
 



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

NRC FORM 591FF PART 3 (12-2007)   

Summary of Plant Status 
 
• The certificate holder performed routine operations throughout the inspection period.  The plant operated at 

approximately 2,000 MW during this inspection period, and Product Assay was according to the production 
plan. 

 
 
Inspection of Transportation Activities (86740) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• Procedures adequately described the responsibilities and roles of personnel and organizations responsible 

for the transportation of radioactive materials.  The inspectors reviewed training and qualification records 
for those individuals responsible for key aspects of the radioactive material transportation program.  The 
inspectors noted that training records were current and that individuals completed required retraining within 
the prescribed frequency. 

 
• The inspectors observed activities associated with the preparation and transportation of radioactive 

material.  Responsible personnel were knowledgeable of procedural requirements and Department of 
Transportation (DOT) regulations relating to the preparation, packaging, and labeling of radioactive 
material shipments.  The inspectors observed pre-shipment inspections and noted that these activities 
were thorough and conducted in accordance with approved procedures. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed selected radioactive waste shipment manifests for completeness and accuracy.  

Manifests correctly reflected the classification, quantity, and labeling requirements for the respective 
shipments.  The inspectors found through discussions with personnel responsible for approving radioactive 
material shipments that individuals were knowledgeable of their duties and associated regulatory 
requirements. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed the corrective action database to identify any adverse trends or safety issues 

relating to the transportation of radioactive material.  The inspectors reviewed the status of corrective 
actions associated with selected issues identified in the corrective action database.  The inspectors noted 
that the threshold for entering issues into the corrective action database included items of low safety 
significance.  Corrective actions were implemented in a timely manner.  The inspectors reviewed the most 
recent independent surveillance of the radioactive material transportation program.  The inspectors noted 
that issues and observations were identified and tracked in accordance with approved procedures.  The 
inspectors identified no safety issues. 

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 
 
Management Organization and Controls (88005) 
 

a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 

• A number of significant organizational changes had occurred since the last management organization 
inspection.  The inspectors reviewed a sample of those changes and interviewed new managers.  The 
inspectors determined that affected personnel met the training and experience requirements for their 
positions as specified in the Safety Analysis Report (SAR) section 6.1, “Organizational Commitments,  
Relationships, Responsibilities, and Authorities.” 
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• The inspectors reviewed a sample of procedures for operations, criticality safety, and alarm response.  The 

inspectors determined that periodic reviews were performed within the appropriate time frames, that 
procedure changes received the appropriate management review, and that procedure changes were 
approved in accordance with the plant’s procedure change process.  The inspectors observed plant 
operations personnel using only approved and current procedures. 

 
• The inspectors performed a review of audits and surveillances.  The reviewed audits were performed at an 

appropriate frequency, appeared to be detailed and thorough, and adequately assessed certificate safety 
commitments.  Interviews with plant personnel and operations observations confirmed that the certificate 
holder’s quality assurance (QA) program was functioning in accordance with the QA Plan. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed a selection of the most recent minutes from meetings held by the Plant 

Operations Review Committee, the Radiation Protection (RP) Committee, and the Electrical Safety 
Committee.  The inspectors noted that corrective actions identified by the committees were in keeping with 
their associated charters, were entered into the corrective action program, and were subsequently 
corrected. 

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 
 
Operator Training/Retraining (88010) 
  
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• This inspection was conducted to determine whether the certificate holder was complying with regulations 

and certificate requirements related to training employees and other personnel and to determine whether 
the certificate holder was implementing an adequate training program. 

 
• To ensure compliance with 10 CFR 19.12, "Instructions to Workers,” the inspectors reviewed the training 

programs and materials for initial and refresher training for (1) storage, transfer, or use of radiation and/or 
radioactive material, (2) health protection problems associated with exposure to radiation and/or 
radioactive material, (3) applicable provisions of the Commission regulations for the protection of personnel 
from exposure either to radiation or to radioactive material, and (4) instructions in employee responsibility 
to report promptly to USEC-PGDP any condition adverse to quality.  The inspectors also interviewed the 
training manager and the regulatory compliance manager.  The inspectors confirmed that USEC-PGDP 
has verified that required postings have been on bulletin boards around the site during every quarter since 
2008. 

 
• The inspectors found that the training programs for initial and refresher training in nuclear criticality safety 

(NCS), RP, and general emergency areas were in compliance with the regulatory requirements.  The 
inspectors observed training sessions for nuclear criticality safety refresher for technicians, operator 
candidate training for systems (process seals), and on-the-job training for faulted lockout-tagouts in 
October.  The inspectors reviewed examinations and their results for the last two operator systems 
courses.  The inspectors concluded that training material and examinations were current and adequate to 
measure the knowledge level of the workers.  Lessons learned from past facility events were appropriately 
communicated in morning meetings to improve worker safety. 
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• Operating procedure and facility change control training was effective.  Operators were knowledgeable of 

their operating processes and pending changes.  USEC-PGDP management noted an adverse trend of 
noncompliance with low level NCS requirements in 2008.  USEC-PGDP management required operators 
and maintenance technicians to attend newly developed NCS refresher courses and to acknowledge their 
understanding of the material. 

 
• Each new operator’s on-the-job training was tracked by his or her immediate supervisor or front line 

manager on an internal network database.  The supervisor maintained the training database and reviewed 
it weekly with each operator. 

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 
 
Radiation Protection (88030) 
 
• The inspectors reviewed the certificate holder’s implementation of its Radiation Protection (RP) program 

and associated procedures.  The certificate holder performed annual assessments of its RP program as 
required.  When program assessments identified areas requiring revision, interviews of certificate holder 
personnel and review of records indicated that revisions were properly developed, reviewed, and 
implemented in accordance with the plant’s change management procedures. 

 
• The inspectors interviewed personnel regarding the “as low as reasonably achievable” (ALARA) program 

and the trending and tracking of personnel exposures.  The inspectors noted that ALARA committee 
meetings were held on a routine basis.  ALARA committee meeting agendas included a review of 
personnel exposures, a review of radiation safety-related issues, and mechanisms to track committee 
action items.  The inspectors also examined Assessment Tracking Reports (ATRs) in the certificate 
holder’s corrective action program pertaining to issues involving RP issues.  The inspectors determined 
that the threshold used by plant personnel for initiating radiation safety-related ATRs was adequate and 
that corrective actions were implemented in accordance with the certificate holder’s corrective action 
program.   

 
• The inspectors observed Health Physics (HP) technicians performing routine surveys in contamination 

control zones and on incoming radioactive material packages.  The inspectors also observed the collection 
and analysis of low volume air samples to assess concentrations of licensed materials in various work 
areas.  Breathing zone and other air sampling equipment were located in appropriate areas to collect 
samples that were representative of the areas observed.  The inspectors reviewed a representative sample 
of various radiation survey records for completeness and accuracy.  

 
• The inspectors reviewed the certificate holder’s bioassay program for the assessment of uranium uptakes 

along with the certificate holder’s external dosimetry program.  The inspectors examined the certificate 
holder’s process for collection and processing of urine samples for uranium analysis.  The inspectors also 
reviewed bioassay program procedures and records.  Through interviews and review of records, the 
inspectors determined that the certificate holder had adequate processes and procedures for identifying 
and investigating elevated urine uranium levels.  The inspectors reviewed the certificate holder’s 
procedures for issuing and processing thermoluminescent dosimeters as well as its processes for 
determining total effective dose equivalent based on internal and external dosimetry results.  The 
inspectors’ review of selected dosimetry records and annual ALARA assessments determined that 
occupation doses were well below any applicable regulatory limit.   
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• Respiratory protection equipment issuance and training assured that the equipment was obtained by 

certified users only.  The certificate holder maintained records that documented the adequate 
implementation of the respiratory protection program.   

 
• The inspectors reviewed RP activities in the field.  Work areas were adequately prepared and appropriate 

radiological controls were implemented for the work activities being conducted.  The inspectors observed 
certificate holder personnel utilizing hand-and-foot monitors upon exit from contamination control zones in 
accordance with radiological program requirements.  The inspectors reviewed several radiation work 
permits (RWPs) for accuracy and completeness and observed that plant employees complied with the 
radiation protection and other safety requirements of the RWPs applicable to the work being performed.  
HP personnel were knowledgeable of work area radiological conditions.   

 
• The inspectors observed the performance of source response and operational checks of radiation 

monitoring equipment and the functional alarm verification procedure for hand-and-foot contamination 
monitors utilized at exit points from contamination control zones.  Certificate holder personnel were 
knowledgeable of the operational check requirements and activities performed in accordance with 
approved procedures.  During interviews of instrument calibration laboratory personnel, plant staff 
demonstrated a good working knowledge of radiation instrument maintenance and calibration 
requirements.  The inspectors examined several pieces of certificate holder radiation survey equipment 
throughout the inspection and found that all of the instruments were in current calibration and in good 
working order.  The inspectors also reviewed implementation of procedures for the calibration of hand-and-
foot contamination monitors.  The inspectors examined calibration sources for appropriate configuration 
and confirmed that the sources used were suitable for their intended use.  The inspectors reviewed 
selected calibration records for accuracy and completeness.   

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 
 
Effluent Control and Environmental Protection (88045) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• The inspectors accompanied the collection of storm water grab samples and continuous liquid effluent 

samples.  The inspectors determined that the activities were in accordance with approved procedures.  The 
inspectors reviewed the 2008 liquid effluent data and determined that it was below the federal requirements 
and the site’s action levels, the Baseline Effluent Quantities (BEQs).  The BEQs were calculated in a 
manner consistent with the SAR.  The certificate holder does not release liquids to the municipal sewer 
system. 

 
• The inspectors noted an increase in the 310 stack uranium airborne effluent trend and multiple BEQ 

exceedances in fall 2008 and summer 2009.  The certificate holder met the SAR requirements for BEQ 
exceedances by opening items in their corrective action program.  The inspectors reviewed several 
corrective action items with an emphasis on ATRC-08-3328, ATRC-09-1561A, and ATRC-09-0704.  The 
certificate holder conducted an evaluation and attributed the higher emissions to an overloading of the 
Alumina trap filters on the 310 stack.  The certificate holder determined that the Alumina traps would be 
changed out on a two-year frequency as a set frequency was not previously established. 
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• The inspectors reviewed quarterly composite data for the 310 stack sample for Thorium-230, Neptunium-

237, and Plutonium-239.  The data was below minimum detectable levels and was not required to be 
evaluated against a BEQ or action limit.  The inspectors also reviewed the October and November 2008 
310 stack sampling results for gross beta.  The inspectors verified that the Technicium-99 measurement 
was conducted when the gross beta action level was exceeded as specified in procedures.  The inspectors 
accompanied the collection of the 310 stack sample and determined that sampling actions were in 
accordance with approved procedures. 

 
• The inspectors verified that the 2008 public dose of 8.01 mrem/yr was below the 10 CFR 20.1301 limit of 

100 mrem/ yr and the 40 CFR 190 limit of 25 mrem/ yr.  The public dose analysis considered airborne 
effluents and external radiation as specified in the SAR.  The inspectors also verified that the dose from 
only the air emissions (0.01 mrem/yr) met the ALARA requirements of 10 CFR 20.1101(d), 10 mrem/yr.  
The inspectors reviewed the 2008 radiation dosimetry results at the site perimeter and determined that the 
results were below regulatory requirements. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed the RP Committee Meeting minutes from July 2009 in which the committee 

assessed the environmental sampling data results for ALARA purposes and also reviewed a related 
corrective action item (ATRC-09-3014).  The inspectors determined that the presentation met the intent of 
the SAR requirement. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed the soil and sediment sampling results from 2008.  The samples were below their 

site-specific action levels or the detection instrument’s minimum detectable level (MDL).  The sampling 
frequencies were consistent with SAR requirements.  The inspectors verified that the locations specified in 
the sampling procedure were consistent with the locations required by the SAR. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed the sampling results from vegetables grown in the area and determined that the 

uranium and Technicium-99 levels were below the MDL for 2008.  The MDL was also the action level for 
the vegetables.  The vegetable sampling frequency was consistent with the SAR.  The inspectors also 
reviewed the sampling results for the 2008 surface water samples and determined that the results were 
below the BEQ. 

 
• The inspectors conducted a tour of the analytical laboratory and reviewed several procedures.  Inspectors 

found that the interviewed employees and the quality control (QC) sections of the reviewed procedures 
were consistent with the requirements stated in the SAR.  The observed chain-of-custody practices were 
consistent with the approved procedures.  The inspectors verified that no significant changes had been 
made to the analytical methods in the past year. 

 
b.   Conclusions 
 

No findings of significance were identified. 
 
 
Emergency Preparedness (88050) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• This inspection was a routine, announced inspection to determine the operational readiness status of the 

emergency preparedness program.  The inspection involved interviews with plant personnel, review of 
selected records, and observation of work activities.  The inspection identified the following aspects of the  
emergency preparedness program as outlined below: 
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• Program changes involving the Emergency Plan (EP) and procedures had no impact on emergency 

preparedness.  The reviewed changes were primarily updates and administrative changes which continue 
to maintain the effectiveness of the Plan. 

 
• The revised Emergency Plan Implementing Procedures (EPIPs) adequately implemented the EP. 
 
• Based on interviews and training documentation, the inspectors determined that with one exception, 

emergency response training was adequate, and all personnel selected for review were trained in 
accordance with procedures.  The exception was several individuals designated as the Local Emergency 
Director (LED) who had not completed one of the two required training modules.  The incomplete module 
was not safety related (accident assessment, classification, notification, etc.) and therefore, the issue was 
considered minor. 

 
• Based on interviews and reviewed records, the inspectors noted that the interface with offsite support 

groups was frequent and properly maintained. 
 
• The certificate holder conducted exercises in accordance with the requirements of the EP.  The 

performance of periodic pager drills was an effective program for demonstrating that minimum staffing 
requirements for activation of the Emergency Operations Center (EOC) could be achieved during 
backshifts and holidays. 

 
• Based on the observation of selected equipment operability checks and the review of documentation for 

equipment maintenance and calibration, the inspectors determined that the reliability of selected equipment 
was good and that the equipment was maintained in a state of operational readiness. 

 
• The USEC-PGDP authorized independent audit was properly implemented, and areas identified during the 

audit for improvement were appropriately communicated to management. 
 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 
 
Fire Protection Triennial (88054) 
Fire Protection Annual (88055) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• The inspectors inspected the material condition, valve lineup, design, and testing of the sprinkler systems 

for buildings C-310, C-315, C-335, and C-337.  Inspectors observed the locations of sprinkler heads to 
check for obstructions, corrosion, and coverage area.  Also, the inspectors performed independent 
calculations using NRC approved fire models (NUREG 1805) to evaluate sprinkler design basis for the 
Lube Oil Pit fire in C-337.  

 
• The inspectors verified the electrical redundancy of fire protection water sources and fire pumps to verify 

the reliability of the systems.  Inspectors reviewed the power and control circuits for the fire service pumps 
to verify that redundancy was built into the system to ensure proper pump operation as a result of fire-
induced damage.  In addition, inspectors reviewed the most recent flow and pressure test data to verify that 
the fire pumps and piping had the capacity and capability to deliver proper flow and pressure to plant fire 
systems.   
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• Inspectors reviewed aspects of fire fighting readiness, including but not limited to, personal protective gear, 

smoke control equipment availability and condition, training, fire drills, daily staffing levels of fire fighting 
personnel, hose lengths, nozzle types, pre-fire planning, and emergency lighting. 

 
• The inspectors walked down buildings C-310, C-315, C-335, and C-337.  The inspectors noted that the 

certificate holder was controlling combustible/flammable materials in accordance with USEC-PGDP 
procedures.  The inspectors also walked down selected sections of the pre-fire plan. 

 
• Inspectors reviewed the material condition of the C-631-3 pump house.  The inspectors observed that the 

ceiling had fallen down over the number 2 fire pump suction valve operator penetration, the sump pipe to 
the C-631-2 recirculating cooling water (RCW) tower basin (RCW basin) had developed a leak at the wall 
from the pump house to the RCW basin, the seam between the top and base of the pump house was 
allowing water intrusion into the pump house, and the bump-out around the number 3 fire pump suction 
pipe had developed a crack.  The inspectors also observed that water from the RCW basin sprayed onto 
the northwest corner of the pump house and that the through-roof valve operator penetrations were not 
watertight.  The inspectors discussed these observations with cognizant plant staff. 

 
• The plant staff stated that the bump-out was part of the wall of the RCW basin.  The plant staff provided a 

drawing of the pump house.  The inspectors reviewed this drawing and the QA plan.  The inspectors noted 
that augmented quality (AQ) buildings were to be inspected every five years.  According to Table 3.15-2 of 
the Safety Analysis Report, the RCW basin is considered an AQ building.  In addition, the inspectors 
reviewed the structural inspection procedure and noted that neither the RCW basin nor the pump house 
was listed as a quality related structure.  The inspectors were concerned about the operability and 
availability of the sump located to the left of the number 2 fire pump suction pipe and the operability and 
availability of the number 2 and number 3 fire pumps should the ceiling continue to degrade.  The 
inspectors were also concerned about the operability and availability of the number 2 and number 3 fire 
pumps should the common wall between the RCW basin and the pump house fail.  The RCW basin holds  
4 million gallons of water when the level is within five feet of the top of the basin.   

 
• Inspectors accomplished the annual inspection of a fire brigade drill by interviewing the fire chief and two 

fire brigade members to determine the actions they took during a drill on November 13, 2009.  The 
inspectors concluded that the pre-planned drill scenario was followed and the drill objectives acceptance 
criteria were met via the post-drill critique.  

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 

 
Permanent Plant Modifications (88070) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• The inspectors reviewed the implementation of a selection of modifications to quality, AQ, and NCS 

systems and components and verified that the design information and safety analyses were in compliance 
with the SAR and required design criteria.  The inspectors verified that the installation of the modifications 
and resulting system conditions were consistent with the design basis, that post-modification testing 
assured implementation of design and safety system functionality, and that the performance capabilities of 
quality related items was not degraded. 
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• The inspectors verified that design documents and operating procedures were updated to reflect the 

modifications and that plant personnel were properly trained prior to implementation.  The inspectors 
interviewed engineers and reviewed Plant Change Reviews (PCRs) and determined that the engineering 
review process included steps to determine if NRC approval was required prior to implementing 
modifications.  The modifications reviewed by inspectors did not require changes to licensing documents.  
The inspectors also determined that none of the changes reviewed involved un-reviewed safety questions.  
The certificate holder also entered issues identified during the modification review process in its corrective 
action system at the appropriate threshold for resolution. 

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 
 
Plant Operations (88100) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• The inspectors observed routine operations in the cascade buildings and area control rooms, the feed 

vaporization facilities, product and tails withdrawal facilities, and the central control facility.  The operations 
staff was alert and generally knowledgeable of the current status of equipment associated with their 
assigned facilities. 

 
• Inspectors performed a detailed walkdown of the Public Warning System (PWS) three times in 2009.  The 

first was following the January 28, 2009, ice storm.  The second was following full restoration of the PWS 
and clearing of the debris.  The third was in October during a routine weekend. Inspectors identified several 
issues that were entered into the certificate holder’s corrective action program.  None of the identified 
issues impacted the ability of the PWS to perform its intended safety function.  The inspectors interviewed 
technicians and engineers with responsibility for the PWS.  The inspectors interviewed plant shift 
superintendents, cascade coordinators, and cascade operators regarding their role for operating the PWS 
and their experience with the reliability of the PWS.  The inspectors observed PWS tests in Building C-300.  
While off-site, the inspectors heard the PWS sirens during monthly PWS siren tests conducted on the first 
Saturday of each month.  

 
The inspectors continued record reviews and interviews regarding the certificate holder’s implementation of 
work hour limitations specified in TSR 3.3.2.a.  This issue had been previously identified as an Unresolved 
Issue (URI 07007001/2009-003-01).  NRC review of this finding continues.  
   

Surveillance Observations (88102) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• Inspectors reviewed the adequacy of the facility’s surveillance testing, calibration, and inspection required 

by the TSRs, NCS evaluations/approvals, and the material control and accountability program.  Inspectors 
also reviewed the calibration of quality and NCS-AQ safety-related instrumentation not specifically 
controlled by TSRs.  The inspectors evaluated the effectiveness of the facility’s controls in identifying, 
resolving, and preventing problems by reviewing corrective action systems, root cause analysis, safety 
committees, and self-assessment in the area of surveillance. 

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
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Maintenance Observations (88103) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
 
• On October 4, a maintenance mechanic observed smoke coming from the C-331, unit 2, cell 2, instrument 

panel and determined it to be UF6.  The operators reduced cell pressure to below atmospheric pressure 
within two minutes which stopped the release.  Troubleshooting revealed that an instrument valve 
malfunctioned and was the source of the UF6 release inside the instrument panel.  Plant personnel 
completed decontamination, replaced the leaking instrument valve, and placed the cell on-stream.  All bio-
assay samples taken from exposed individuals were below action levels, and some were below minimum 
detectable activity.  Resident inspectors observed troubleshooting efforts, posting and down posting 
activities, and the decontamination results.   

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 

 
Management Organization and Controls (88105) 
 
a. Inspection Scope and Observations 
  
• During this period, the inspectors reviewed recent changes of key positions in the organizational structure 

in order to verify that the qualifications of those personnel conformed to certificate requirements.  The 
inspectors determined that: (1) plant procedures were maintained, reviewed, and changed in accordance 
with certificate requirements, (2) plant operations review committee (PORC) meetings were focused on 
significant safety and regulatory issues and provided management with recommendations for continued 
safe plant operations, (3) quality assurance audits of systems important to safety were independent and 
performed in accordance with approved procedures by qualified personnel at the specified frequencies.  
The inspectors reviewed facility staffing and overtime records, including prior management approval of all 
overtime.  The inspectors verified: (1) the organizational independence of HP and QA from operations,  
(2) personnel were notified and trained on procedure changes in a timely manner, (3) procedure adherence 
policies were clear and appropriately disseminated, (4) alarm and abnormal response procedures were 
maintained in a controlled manner and were readily available. 

 
b. Conclusions 
 

No violations of significance were identified. 
 
 
Exit Meeting Summary 
 
• The inspection scope and results for Inspection Procedure (IP) 88050, Emergency Preparedness and for 

IP 86740, Inspection of Transportation Activities, were summarized on Thursday, November 5, 2009, with 
Jim Lewis, Plant Manager, and members of his staff. 

 
• The inspection scope and results for IP 88030, Radiation Protection, were summarized on Friday, 

November 19, 2009, with Michael Buckner, Acting Plant Manager, and members of his staff. 
 
• The inspection scope and results for IPs 88054/88055, Fire Protection (Triennial)/Fire Protection (Annual) 

respectively, were summarized on Friday, November 20, 2009, with Jim Lewis, Plant Manager, and 
members of his staff. 
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• The inspection scope and results for IP 88045, Effluent Control and Environmental Protection, were 

summarized on Friday, December 11, 2009, with Jim Lewis, Plant Manager, and members of his staff. 
 
• The inspection scope and results for the Integrated Inspection Report, 4th Quarter 2009, were summarized 

on January 6, 2010, with Steve Penrod and members of his staff.  In addition to the routine resident 
inspector inspection procedures, this exit meeting also included IP 88005, Management Organization and 
Controls, IP 88010, Operator Training/Retraining, IP 88055, Fire Protection (drill portion), and IP 88070, 
Permanent Plant Modifications.  The inspectors asked the certificate holder or certificate holder staff 
whether any materials examined during the inspection should be considered proprietary.  No proprietary 
information was identified. 
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Key Points of Contact 
 
Name Title 
Keith Ahern Production Support 
Mike Boren Regulatory Compliance and Nuclear Operations 
David Clayton Training Manager 
Sherrill Gunn Operations Manager 
Robert Helme Engineering Manager 
Tony Hudson Plant Shift Superintendent 
Jim Lewis Plant Manager 
Joe Mize Senior Quality Specialist 
Steve Penrod General Manager 
Kevan Ragsdale Security Shift Superintendent 
Vernon Shanks Regulatory Affairs Manager 
Diane Snow Manager, Environmental, Safety, and Health 
Dave Stadler Lead, Regulatory Engineer 
April Tilford Emergency Management 
Craig Willett Maintenance Manager 
 
List of Items Opened, Closed, and Discussed 
 
Opened 
 

07007001/2009-004-00 ADR An Office of Investigation (OI) review and investigation identified four 
apparent violations.  USEC requested Alternative Dispute Resolution 
(ADR) in an attempt to resolve the issue.  An ADR mediation session 
was held on July 2, 2009, and a preliminary settlement was reached.  
The elements of the preliminary agreement were formulated and 
agreed upon at the mediation session and are documented in a 
Confirmatory Order dated August 18, 2009.  In consideration of the 
commitments discussed in the Confirmatory Order, the NRC agreed 
to refrain from proposing a civil penalty and issuing a Notice of 
Violation or other enforcement action for the matters discussed in the 
NRC’s letter to USEC of February 25, 2009 (EA-08-344).  We will 
evaluate the implementation of USEC-PGDP commitments during 
future inspections. 
 
ATR-08-0264, ATR-08-0328, Issue ID: C09100463 

 
Opened & Closed 
 

07007001/2009-004-00 
 

LER EN 45413:  Smoke from C-331, Unit 2, Cell 2 Instrument Panel 
On October 4, a maintenance mechanic observed smoke coming from 
the C-331, Unit 2, Cell 2 instrument panel and determined it to be 
UF6.  Operators responded in accordance with their procedures and 
stopped the release. 
 
USEC CAP item: ATRC-09-2435 and PAD-09-16. 
Investigation revealed that an instrument valve malfunctioned and 
was the source of the UF6 release inside the instrument panel.  Plant 
personnel completed decontamination, replaced the leaking 
instrument valve, and placed the cell on-stream.  Results of bio-assay 
samples were below action levels.  Resident inspectors observed the 
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results of the release, the troubleshooting efforts, the posting and 
down posting activities, and the decontamination results. 
 

07007001/2009-004-00 
 

LER EN 45492: Violation of NCS Control – Legacy Abandoned-In-Place 
Piping 
On November 12, plant personnel discovered process piping located 
within the cell housings in the C-331 and C-335 buildings that had not 
been capped.  The 16-inch piping was part of a cell recycle line that 
was replaced in the mid-1970s. NCS controls require equipment 
openings with unknown uranium deposits be covered with waterproof 
covers that are fire resistant.  Since the piping contains unknown 
uranium mass and was discovered without waterproof covers, the 
NCS control was violated.  
 
PGDP: ATRC-09-2781 and PAD-2009-19. 
The NCS control that was violated was based on calculations 
performed at 5.5 wt% 235U and required covers for piping greater than 
10.25 inches.  The piping involved was disconnected prior to the plant 
operating above 2.0 wt% 235U.  The NCS control was revised to 
include pipe sizes requiring covers at lower assays (<5.5 wt% 235U)  
and to allow using the actual assay and size of the equipment when 
determining if covers are needed for open process piping.  Assay 
samples were collected and were found to be in compliance with NCS 
controls, as revised.   
 

07007001/2009-004-00 
 

LER EN 45527: Process Gas Leak Detection System Inoperable Due to 
Loss of Power.  
On November 28, 2009, at 1850 hours during routine rounds, an 
operator discovered the Process Gas Leak Detection (PGLD) system 
for Building C-333, Unit 6, Cell 5 had no power and was inoperable.  
TSR LCO 2.4.4.2.B.1 was entered, and a continuous smoke watch 
was put in place within one hour as required by the LCO.  A ground in 
the PGLD circuit was identified and isolated.  The PGLD system was 
tested and declared operable at 2305 hours. 
USEC CAP item: ATRC-09-2910 and PAD-09-20 

 
Closed 
 

07007001/2008-004-00 
 

LER EN 44744: Actuation of PGLD System Due To UF6 Release - 
RETRACTED  
On December 28, the C-337 Unit 5, Cell 3 Process Gas Leak 
Detection (PGLD) system head located on Stage 8 actuated.  
Operators responded to the alarm and performed sampling in the 
area.  Area sampling indicated 3 ppm of HF at the Stage 8 
compressor.  The cell was taken off-stream and the pressure was 
reduced to below atmosphere in order to stop the release.  An 
investigation indicated that a UF6 release had occurred. 
PGDP CAP items: ATRC-08-3628 and PAD-2008-038 
The certificate-holder retracted this event notification on February 6, 
2009, stating that a compressor seal had failed and caused the 
release.  The certificate holder determined the amount of material 
released was a few grams, that the release was only in the vicinity of 
the compressor, and that all systems functioned as required.  There  
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was no offsite release and no personnel contamination resulted from 
this event. 

   
07007001/2009-002-03 LER EN 45042:  24 Hour 91-01 Bulletin Report on Loss of One of Two 

Criticality Control Contingencies 
On May 4, plant personnel identified that a fissile sample buggy in C-
331 Process Building was in violation of the 2-foot spacing 
requirement from a fissile HEPA vacuum.  The buggy was pushed up 
against the HEPA vacuum spacing pan which resulted in 
approximately 21 inches of separation between the fissile material 
items. Plant personnel remediated the situation according to NCS 
guidelines.   
 
PGDP CAP item: ATRC-09-1034 and PAD-2009-007 
USEC-PGDP identified storage areas for buggies to be returned to 
after use.  USEC-PGDP identified storage areas for HEPA vacuums 
to be returned after each use.  USEC-PGDP conducted crew briefings 
with personnel to identify storage areas for the buggies and HEPA 
vacuums and the management expectation that they be returned to 
one of these areas after each use.   
 
USEC-PGDP conducted an effectiveness review on December 21 
and confirmed no similar NCS violations occurred and conducted 
walkdown of both areas to confirm they were being used to prevent 
spacing violations.  
 

   
07007001/2009-003-00 
 

LER EN 45302: Failure of the C-360 #4 Autoclave Relief System 
On August 26, operators were performing an autoclave startup 
checklist when they recorded an abnormal pressure between the 
rupture disk and relief valve that comprise the pressure relief path for 
the autoclave shell.  Steam had not yet been admitted to the 
autoclave, and the pressure inside the autoclave was 0 psig.  The 
procedure was stopped, and the autoclave was declared inoperable. 
USEC CAP item: ATRC-09-2084 and PAD-09-12. 
Plant personnel determined that a leak in the rupture disc resulted in a 
build-up and trapping of pressure in the space between the rupture 
disc and the pressure relief valve during a previous pressure decay 
leak rate test.  The rupture disc was replaced and plant procedures 
were changed to require operators to verify that the pressure between 
the rupture disc and relief valve is within specification prior to closing 
the autoclaves. 

   
07007001/2009-001-02 URI On March 6, 2009, inspectors found a member of the security force 

who appeared to be in violation of several plant procedures. 
USEC CAP item: ATRC-09-0482 
NRC office of investigation closed this issue on September 15, 2009, 
under case number 2-2009-023.  The OI substantiated one minor 
violation of plant procedures. 
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Discussed 
 

07007001/2009-003-01 URI On 8-15-2009, inspectors determined that two QC inspectors had 
been on plant site from 0700 on 8-14 to 1800 on 8-15.  Near the end 
of this 36-hour period, the QC inspectors performed maintenance 
work package R 091327901 to make weld repairs of cracks in the 
Building C-315 north gantry crane support structure.  The 
management response was that these men should not have worked 
36 consecutive hours but that “Since QC inspectors are not under 
TSR hours of work limitations, no violation of plant procedures 
occurred. . .”  The inspectors concluded that TSR 3.2.2.a hours of 
work limitations were applicable to the QC inspectors when they 
conducted magnetic particle testing (to ensure cracks had been fully 
removed) and visual inspections of the rewelded safety-related crane 
support structures.  Because TSR 3.2.2.a hours of work limitations 
were applicable, a manager was required by TSR 3.2.2.a and by 
procedure to document the basis of the exceedance and to obtain 
General Manager or Shift Superintendent authorization in advance for 
work that exceeds the guidelines of TSR 3.2.2.a.  This authorization 
was not acquired.  This URI is under NRC review. 
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